■ UPSTREAM SECURITY IN EUROPE

A concise overview of the issues arising in connection with the granting and taking of Upstream Security in Europe



■ UPSTREAM SECURITY IN EUROPE

A concise overview of the issues arising in connection with the granting and taking of Upstream Security in Europe

Table of Contents

Introd	uction	5
1.	Increase in Cross-Border Financing	5
2.	Security as Common Feature in Cross-Border Financing	5
3.	Legal Issues in Connection with Upstream Security	5
4.	Aim of the Brochure	5
Gloss	ary of Terms used in this Brochure	6
Conta	ct	7
Count	ry Overview	8
1.	Austria	8
2.	Belgium	12
3.	Bulgaria	16
4.	Croatia	20
5.	Cyprus	24
6.	Czech Republic	28
7.	Denmark	32
8.	Estonia	36
9.	Finland	40
10.	France	44
11.	Germany	48
12.	Greece	52
13.	Hungary	56
14.	Ireland	60
15.	Italy	64

16.	Latvia	68
17.	Lithuania	72
18.	Luxembourg	76
19.	Malta	80
20.	The Netherlands	84
21.	Poland	88
22.	Portugal	92
23.	Romania	96
24.	Slovakia	100
25.	Slovenia	104
26.	Spain	108
27.	Sweden	112
28.	Switzerland	116
29.	The United Kingdom	120

INTRODUCTION

1. Increase in Cross-Border Financing

Financing transactions cross borders more and more often due to the increasing internationalization of lenders and borrowers. In recent decades, companies have increased their international operations. Thus, subsidiaries in various jurisdictions can be involved in financing transactions as borrowers, guarantors or security providers. For lenders the key benefit of cross-border financing is diversification. By spreading their activities over different countries, lenders are less exposed to individual domestic or foreign risks. This may in turn reduce the volatility of lending.

2. Security as Common Feature in Cross-Border Financing

Irrespective of jurisdiction, the first questions in financing are what type of security is available and what is the value of the security. Any loan is associated with some risk of default. Granting security is one method that has been used since the fourth century B.C. to reduce the risk borne by the lender in making a loan. The main purpose of the security is to give the lender some recourse if the borrower fails to meet the terms of the loan. However, the security can also be useful for borrowers. Borrowers who are perceived by lenders to be less credit-worthy are better able to access credit when they grant a security. Without a security, these borrowers would generally find their access to credits restricted. Secured loans usually offer lower rates, higher borrowing limits and longer repayment terms than unsecured loans.

3. Legal Issues in Connection with Upstream Security

Cross-border financing can present many traps for both borrowers and lenders. An array of legal issues is involved in structuring and negotiating cross-border financing transactions. One of these legal issues arises in connection with the granting and taking of upstream security. In many jurisdictions upstream security can be problematical. Often the risk of granting upstream security must be balanced with the actual or potential rewards. Sometimes the value has to be limited to the net asset value of the company providing upstream security. Additionally, there are prohibitions on the granting of financial assistance by a company in connection with the acquisition of its shares, or those of its holding company. The circumstances in which an upstream security may be granted vary greatly in different jurisdictions.

4. Aim of the Brochure

This brochure is designed to offer a concise and practical overview of the issues in connection with the granting and taking of upstream security in Europe. It is intended to give the reader an initial grasp of the different requirements and risks of granting upstream security, thus allowing the right questions to be asked of local counsel and proving an understanding of the responses and its implications. Accordingly, this brochure does not attempt to provide a detailed discussion of granting upstream security in each jurisdiction. The information in this brochure is not considered legal advice and should not be treated as such. The respective authors have developed the editorial content presented. Therefore, the sole responsibility for the content of this brochure lies with the respective author and P+P Pöllath + Partners does not does not assume any responsibility for the content of this brochure.

■ GLOSSARY OF TERMS USED IN THIS BROCHURE

This glossary lists and defines some of the terms used in this brochure. It shall serve to create a uniform understanding of these terms throughout the brochure.

TERM	DEFINITION
Upstream security	The granting of guarantees and asset security by a company to support loans incurred by a holding company or sister company of the relevant guarantor or security provider, respectively.
Corporate benefit	The directors of a company, which provides an upstream security, have a duty to act in what they consider to be the best interests of said company. They must ask themselves whether they can justify the company's securing another company's obligations.
Financial assistance	All kinds of financial support that expose a company to a risk which did not previously exist and thereby enable or support another person in acquiring shares issued by that company or those of its holding company.
Capital maintenance rules	All rules designed to ensure that a company obtains the capital that it has purported to raise and maintains said capital, subject to the exigencies of the business, for the benefit and protection of the company's creditors and the discharge of its liabilities.

■ CONTACT

Should you have any specific queries regarding this brochure or taking upstream security in Germany, please do not hesitate to contact us.



Dr Jens Linde Attorney-at-Law, Counsel

T: +49 69 247 047-78 E: jens.linde@pplaw.com



Michael Schuhmacher Attorney-at-Law, Senior Associate

T: +49 69 247 047-78 E: michael.schuhmacher@pplaw.com

COUNTRY OVERVIEW

1. Austria



Stephan Schmalzl Attorney-at-Law

T: +43 1 401 17-0 E: schmalzl@gpp.at



Stadiongasse 2 1010 Vienna Austria

www.gpp.at

Graf & Pitkowitz Rechtsanwälte GmbH (GPP) is a leading independent Austrian full service law firm with offices in Vienna and Graz. Founded in 1994, GPP's team of dedicated experts has quickly grown and now belongs to the best known practices in Austria. GPP provides legal advice and representation to clients in all sectors of industry and is inherently strong in cross-border and domestic work, with the emphasis on global transactions.

GPP's Banking & Finance team advises across all areas of bank finance from regulatory issues and restructurings to high end (re-)financing transactions with cross-border elements. The team is now highly active on the institutional investor side, particularly in banking disputes and in advising on complex aspects of current Austrian legislation on the recovery and resolution of credit institutions. In addition to banking and finance work, GPP's Banking & Finance team also works with leading alternative capital providers as well as businesses active in the field of virtual currencies. The team's high quality requirements, its innovative strengths and commitment to unbureaucratic solutions are held in high esteem by GPP's clients. Team members are recognized by leading Global and European publications relying on client recommendations and independent peer reviews and are regularly ranked amongst the leading Austrian banking & finance lawyers.

QUESTION 1: Is granting upstream security in principle possible in your jurisdiction?		
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit in your jurisdiction?	, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☐ Corporate b	penefit	☐ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
⊠ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal con	sequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of	security	
⊠ Civil liability	y of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	ability of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your juri the legal consequences?	sdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: Legal and economic consequence of the standard Austrian limitation language is that the permitted amount of any obligations arising from an upstream security is basically limited to the amount available for lawful distribution to the shareholders; i.e. the amount may be zero or close to zero.
□ No		

QUESTION 5	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 6	: Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
☐ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 7	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
	□ No
QUESTION 8	: Comments/Specifics
52 and compa Austri specif payme ments	an capital maintenance rules (Sections 82 et seq. of the Austrian act on companies with limited liability (GmbHG) and/or Sections d 65 et seq. of the Austrian stock corporation act (AktG)), as applied by Austrian courts, protect the entire assets of an Austrian any on behalf of its respective creditors and cover the entire set of corporate assets, even those exceeding the stated capital. Under an capital maintenance rules, contributions to a shareholder of an Austrian company may only be made in accordance with explicitly led statutory exceptions. The most important of these circumstances provides that shareholders have the right to receive dividend ents, provided that these dividend payments are restricted to the amount of net profits shown in the approved annual financial stateand are not prohibited by law or the respective subsidiary's articles of association and further provided the shareholder(s) resolved disbursement of such dividend payment.
	also members of the supervisory board may face personal liabilities arising from violations of Austrian capital maintenance rules, arties, including lenders, may only be held liable in exceptional cases.
(3) Transa	actions aimed to fund and/or grant security for the acquisition of its own shares or the shares of its holding entity are, in general, void.

2. Belgium



Sven BogaertsSenior Counsel

T: +32 2 543 31 00 E: sven.bogaerts@eubelius.com



Thomas Donnez
Associate

T: 32 2 543 31 00

E: thomas.donnez@eubelius.com



Louizalaan 99 Av. Louise 1050 Brussels Belgium

www.eubelius.com

Eubelius is Belgium's largest independent law firm. Our 22 partners, and close to 100 associates offer unique expertise and experience in all areas of business law.

We offer counselling and representation on Belgian and European Union law. We have privileged working relationships with outstanding independent law firms in many foreign jurisdictions. Our practice has a distinctly international focus. We serve a very diverse client base, ranging from Fortune 500 multinationals to local entrepreneurs, a large number of companies with public law status, and numerous Belgian companies which are part of large international groups.

We represent all Belgian language communities and handle matters in English, Dutch, French and German.

We have offices in Brussels, Kortrijk and Antwerp. With approximately 50 support staff, a proprietary knowledge management system, a well-equipped legal library and a state-of-the-art ICT platform, we combine the advantages of a flexible organization with a size that allows us to deliver services of the highest quality.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in principle	e possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, financial in your jurisdiction?	assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	penefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
☐ Capital main	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:		es of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
	fsecurity	
⊠ Civil liability	y of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☑ Lender
☑ Criminal Liability of		 ☑ Director of company ☐ Director of shareholder ☐ Shareholder ☑ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction t the legal consequences?	o include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
Yes Yes ■ Yes ■ Yes ■ Nes Nes		Legal consequences: It is market practice in Belgium that upstream security is limited in amount, taking into account the corporate benefit of the security grantor. There are however no legal provisions that clearly set what the limits of such upstream security should be. Although numerous variations are possible, enforcement of the security is customarily limited to the higher of: (a) any amounts directly drawn by the security grantor (and its subsidiaries) under the credit facility and any amounts on-lent to a Belgian security grantor (or its subsidiaries) that are drawn by affiliates under the credit facility; or

security was granted or at the time of enforcement of the security (whichever amount is the highest). □ No **QUESTION 5:** Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)? ☐ Yes × No Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction? **QUESTION 6:** □ No Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction? QUESTION 7: □ No **QUESTION 8:** Comments/Specifics Upstream security must comply with general principles of Belgian company and insolvency law, such as (without limitation): (1)(a) corporate purpose: any (upstream) security in violation of the corporate purposes (as stated in the relevant entity's articles of association), could lead to unenforceability and director's liability; and (b) corporate interest: each Belgian subsidiary must derive a benefit from the transaction for which it is granting an upstream security; while the interest of the group as a whole may be taken into account, any security must nevertheless be proportionate to the financial means of the subsidiary and to the benefit it derives (over time) from the transaction; a violation thereof could lead to nullity or unenforceability. Further, an upstream security could also be challenged on the basis of general principles of law such as failure to perform in good faith, (2)abuse of majority, abuse of power/rights, breach of authority, etc. (3)In certain circumstances, there is a possibility of criminal liability (that could apply both to the subsidiary and to the lenders), such as in case of financial assistance that does not comply with the provisions of the Belgian companies code (in particular that does not comply with the whitewash procedures as set out in Directive 2006/68/EC). Furthermore, there is an additional risk of criminal liability on the basis of provisions concerning the ,abuse of company goods', if the ultimate economic beneficiary of the subsidiary also has an actual leadership position at the subsidiary level (e.g. by being a director or a shadow director).

(b) a percentage (high, often >80%) of that Belgian security grantor's net assets (as defined in the Belgian companies code), either at the time the

3. Bulgaria



Svetlina Kortenska Counsel

T: +359 2 8 055 055 E: s.kortenska@boyanov.com



82, Patriarch Evtimii Blvd. 1463 Sofia Bulgaria

www.boyanov.com

Established in 1990, Boyanov & Co has earned wide international and local recognition as the preferred law firm for many businesses expanding their portfolios in South East Europe. The firm has advised on most of Bulgaria's landmark transactions in the last two and a half decades. Its client portfolio includes local and international companies, governments and institutions.

Since its establishment, the firm has always been ranked as a market leader for the excellence of its services, drawing on years of experience, in-depth knowledge of local and international law, and the brilliance of its professionals.

The firm provides a broad range of services with particular strength in M&A, banking and finance, energy and natural resources, TMT, intellectual property, competition, real estate, restructuring, and dispute resolution. The firm provides services in Bulgarian, English, German, French, Spanish and Russian.

Boyanov & Co is a founding member of The South East Europe Legal Group (SEE Legal), a unique integrated organisation of the leading national law firms across 12 countries in South-East Europe, providing a one-stop-shop for the best legal advice in the region. Because of its large client base and long track record of advising in major transactions in Bulgaria, the firm has been indicated as the local leader by many international legal directories such as the Chambers Global, European Legal 500, IFLR 1000, Global Counsel 3000, etc. The firm has more than 30 lawyers some of whom work as scholars in leading universities, and contribute regularly to Bulgarian and international publications in all areas of local, European and international law.

The firm's unwavering support for business has made it a valued member of organizations such as Confederation of Employers and Industrialists in Bulgaria, the American Chamber of Commerce, the German-Bulgarian Chamber of Commerce, the British Bulgarian Business Association, the Bulgarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, etc. Its partners are active in the International Bar Association, American Bar Association, INTA, Lord Slynn European Law Foundation and others.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in principle possible	in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, financial assistan in your jurisdiction?	ce and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
□ Corporate b	benefit	□ Company benefit required□ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
☑ Capital mai	intenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal consequences of viola	ting such rules in your jurisdiction?
	f security	
⊠ Civil liability	y of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
□ Criminal Lia	ability of	 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to include the legal consequences?	limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: The enforcement of the security is limited to the amount of any free reserves and distributable profits of the security grantor.
□ No		

QUESTION 5: Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream securbesides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?		
⊠ Ye:	S	□ No
QUES	TION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	S	□ No
QUES	TION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye:	S	□ No
QUES	TION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(1)		n law only provides explicit rules regarding financial assistance for joint-stock companies (акционерни дружества от AD), no explicit rules exist for limited liability companies (дружества с ограничена отговорност от OOD).
(2)	exceptio	granted by an AD for the purpose of acquisition of its own shares or the shares of its holding company is void. There are minor ns in favour of credit institutions/financial services institutions, employees and corporate groups contractually formed under the re provisions of the Bulgarian commerce act.
(3)		ctors and managers of a Bulgarian company are subject to a general obligation to act in the interest of that company in relation to actions on behalf of the company, including when granting security for the benefit of third parties.
(4)	For certain transactions of ADs, including guarantee and security transactions (other than in case of prohibited financial assistance), or a value exceeding half of the balance sheet value of assets, there is a requirement for prior authorization by the general meeting of the shareholders (in a one-tier management system) or the supervisory board (in a two-tier management system).	
(5)	In case the authorization competence of the general meeting of the shareholders is delegated in the statutes of the company to the board of directors (in a one-tier management system), then the resolution is made by it.	
(6)		ence of authorization however does not render the transaction itself invalid but involves the liability of the person who exceeded rs to the company.
(7)	intereste	case of publicly traded ADs, there are requirements for corporate authorization by the general meeting of shareholders in case of d parties' transactions exceeding certain (quite low) thresholds. The shareholders interested in such transactions are prohibited ing at the general meeting authorizing the transactions. Transactions concluded without such a prior authorization (if required) and void.

4. Croatia



Tomislav Tus Partner

T: +385 1 55 55 630

E: tomislav.tus@zuric-i-partneri.hr

Ivana Lučića 2A (Eurotower) 10000 Zagreb Croatia

www.zuric-i-partneri.hr

Žurić i Partneri was founded in 1992 with the aim of creating a law practice with a genuine international profile to provide legal support in Croatia to both foreign and domestic clients by upholding the highest standards of legal profession.

We are devoted to values which we trust are essential for a modern law practice. Competence, ethics, dedication to solutions, understanding clients' commercial circumstances as well as reliability and efficiency are the fundamental principles of our conduct within the legal profession.

The firm has gained a reputation particularly in the field of business and commercial law. Consequently, most of our clients are domestic and foreign companies, banks, financial institutions and public agencies. For many years our firm as well as some of the firm's partners and attorneys have been ranked by the most prominent international legal directories among the leading Croatian law firms and attorneys. Žurić i Partneri is the exclusive Croatian member of the Energy Law Group, a European association of independent law firms with expertise in the energy and natural resources sectors.

The long-time practical experience in a number of legal issues and cases from all areas of law enables us to devote equal attention to both the most sophisticated legal transactions and to regular day-to-day legal support to our clients. All our lawyers have an excellent command of the English language which is used daily and we also frequently communicate in other languages, such as German, Italian, Slovenian and French.

Žurić i Partneri regularly cooperates with some of the most prominent international law firms. At the same time we also recognise our clients' needs for regional presence and to this end we have developed an efficient network of correspondent law firms throughout the countries of the region.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in principle possibl	e in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	: Are there any corporate benefit, financial assistal in your jurisdiction?	nce and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate l		☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	assistance	
⊠ Capital mai	aintenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal consequences of viole	ating such rules in your jurisdiction?
	of security	
⊠ Civil liabilit	ty of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
□ Criminal Lia	iability of	 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to include the legal consequences?	e limitation language and if so, what are in essence
☐ Yes		Legal consequences: N/a
⊠ No		
QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jur besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder app	isdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security roval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes		□No

QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics
None	
None.	

5. Cyprus



Thomas Keane Partner

T: +357 25 257 900 E: tkeane@kvlaw.eu



Christina Vgenopoulou Partner

T: +357 25 257 900

E: cvgenopoulou@kvlaw.eu



2 Makarios Ave., Atlantis Building 2nd Floor, Office 201 Mesa Geitonia, Limassol 4000 Cyprus www.kvlaw.eu

Keane Vgenopoulou & Associates LLC is a newly established firm (2012) and provides comprehensive legal services of the highest quality combined with keen understanding of the modern business environment. The firm applies a cross-disciplinary approach combining, legal, regulatory as well as tax considerations.

We are a full service law firm but have particular experience and expertise in the areas of financial services, banking, capital markets, corporate, M&A, EU law, antitrust (EU and Cyprus), corporate finance, asset and project finance, intellectual property, energy, taxation and public procurement. The firm has extensive experience in finance transactions of all types, asset finance, project finance and acquisition finance.

With over thirty years of collective experience the firm stands for technical excellence, quality of service and integrity.

QUESTION 1: Is granting upstream security in principle possible in your jurisdiction?		
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate bene in your jurisdiction?	fit, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
□ Corporate I	benefit	□ Company benefit required☑ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
□ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal co	onsequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of	security	
⊠ Civil liability	y of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
□ Criminal Lia	ability of	 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your ju the legal consequences?	risdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: In circumstances where use is made of the limitation language the effect is to limit the amount recoverable upon enforcement of security to a particular monetary value. If the asset charged is liquidated for a value higher than the limit then the balance must be accounted for to the security provider.
□ No		

QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?		
☐ Yes	⊠ No		
QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?		
⊠ Yes	□ No		
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?		
☐ Yes	⊠ No		
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics		
In the context	of upstream security under Cyprus law, the main issues to be considered are:		
Cyprus	al Assistance: The basic prohibition on the giving of financial assistance (e.g. guarantee, loan, security etc.) remains in place under law, however in the case of private companies this can be whitewashed through a resolution of the shareholders. As regards public nies, the prohibition is absolute.		
consid	Corporate Benefit: The directors of a Cyprus company are under a duty to act in the best interests of the company and are thus bound consider if the granting of upstream security is justified. Usually as this nature of security is to give benefit to a group company, this sufficient to amount to corporate benefit.		
(i.e. be of the	Fraudulent Preference: Section 301 of the Cyprian companies law (cap.113) provides that a transaction entered into to give a preferer (i.e. being put in a better position than other creditors) is void. To constitute a preference the transaction (with respect to any of the assort of the company) must have been entered into within six months prior to the company going into liquidation with the dominant intention preferring one creditor over another at a time when the company is insolvent. The central element is the dominant intention to prefer.		

6. Czech Republic



Jan Topinka Partner

T: +420 255 000 111 E: jan.topinka@havelholasek.cz



Filip Čabart
Senior Associate

T: +420 255 000 111

E: filip.cabart@havelholasek.cz



Na Florenci 2116/15, Reception A 110 00 Praha 1 – Nové Město Czech Republic

www.havelholasek.cz

Havel, Holásek & Partners with offices in Prague, Brno, Ostrava, and Bratislava, has a team of more than 180 lawyers, several dozen law faculty students and more than 500 employees, including 130 employees from the affiliated collection agency Cash Collectors and is the largest law firm in the Czech Republic and Slovakia.

During its 14 years on the market, Havel, Holásek & Partners has also become the largest independent law firm in central Europe. Most of our partners and many of our senior lawyers have gained experience in top international law firms, such as Linklaters, Freshfields, Allen & Overy, Clifford Chance, Hogan Lovells, Norton Rose Fulbright, Dentons (Salans), DLA Piper, Weil, White & Case, Baker & McKenzie, Squire Patton Boggs, Gleiss Lutz, Noerr, Schöenherr, Wolf Theiss, Gide Loyrette Nouel, or leading Czech and Slovak law firms as well as in top public sector positions such as government ministries, the competition office and the central bank.

QUESTION 1: Is granting upstream security in principle possible in your jurisdiction?				
⊠ Yes		□ No		
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefin your jurisdiction?	t, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed		
☑ Corporate b	enefit	□ Company benefit required☑ Group benefit sufficient		
☑ Financial as	esistance			
☑ Capital maii	ntenance			
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal co	nsequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?		
☐ Invalidity of	security			
☑ Civil liability	of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender		
☑ Criminal Liability of		☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender		
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your ju	risdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence		
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: Limitation language, preferably limiting upstream security to an amount equal (or less) the amount of net assets of the security provider, avoids the possibility of the security being disputed due to (a) causing the security provider to be insolvent (ii) critical omission/criminal act on the part of the director(s).		
□ No				

QUE	STION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Ye	<u>e</u> s	□ No
QUES	STION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	2 S	□ No
QUES	STION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	es	□ No
QUES	STION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(1)	corporat	easures relating to provision of upstream security (question 5): Depending upon the corporate documents of the security provider, e approvals by the shareholder/general meeting of the company and by the decision of the board of directors of the company are recommended.
(2)	provided	ns to whitewash procedures (question 6): Whitewash procedure is not required or is limited if (a) the financial assistance is by financial institutions within the usual limits of their main activity, and (b) is provided for the purpose of acquisition of shares by es of the company providing the financial assistance or employees of a company controlled by such company.
(3)	liability of assistance the general in case of associate general in The provinces articles of Other columnairs:	ces in the procedure depending on the type of legal entity providing security (question Whitewash procedure in case of a limited company requires (a) a written report prepared by the executive director justifying the requirement for the provision of the financial ce, specifying benefits and risks resulting from such provision for the company and the conditions under which the financial as-will be provided, and reasoning why the financial assistance is not in conflict with the company's interests, and (b) an approval by ral meeting. of a joint stock company, provision of financial assistance is subject to (a) explicit permission under the company's articles of ion, (b) approval by the board of directors and provision of the report as with the limited liability company, and (c) approval by the meeting. rision of financial assistance cannot result in substantial reduction of the company's assets; the company needs to establish a fund in the amount of the provided financial assistance. In certain cases the report by the board of directors needs to be independented. Financial assistance always needs to be provided on arm's length terms. Other requirements may be set in the company's of association. mments/considerations: Any security agreement may become voidable under Czech civil law if it deliberately and fraudulently satisfaction of an enforceable claim of the company's creditor. Any security may be voidable under Czech insolvency law under specific conditions if the company subsequently becomes insolvent. Directors of a company may be potentially held criminally

(způsobení úpadku) or unjust preference of creditors (zvýhodnění věřitele). For these particular crimes legal entities are not criminally liable. Members of statutory bodies of a company are obliged to compensate damages under breach of duty of care, to inform the general meeting of the company when the member, related person or a legal entity influenced or controlled by such member intend to enter into a

substantial agreement with the company.

7. Denmark



Jonas Glyager Advokat

T: +45 3525 2535 E: jgl@lundgrens.dk



lan Tokley
Partner, Solicitor

T: +45 3525 2958 E: hbs@lundgrens.dk



Tuborg Havnevej 19 2900 Hellerup (Copenhagen) Denmark

www.ronnelundgren.com

Rønne & Lundgren is one of Denmark's leading law firms. We employ approximately 110 people, of which 65 are attorneys.

We aim to meet the market's demand for accessibility, speed and business understanding that characterises a modern law firm.

Rønne & Lundgren assists Danish and foreign companies, organisations and public institutions within our Practice Areas.

It is important to us that our advisory is focused on solutions. The law and our understanding of the client's situation are our tools to reach the right solution on the issues we are working with.

We work according to a key account principle. It means that the client is linked up to one partner who is responsible that the client's assignments are solved by the attorney(s) that have the right competences.

☑ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 2: Are there any corporate in your jurisdiction?	benefit, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
□ Corporate benefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial assistance	
☐ Capital maintenance	
	egal consequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Civil liability of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
☑ Criminal Liability of	 ☑ Director of company ☐ Director of shareholder ☐ Shareholder ☐ Lender
QUESTION 4: Is it market practice in y the legal consequences	your jurisdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence?
Yes	Legal consequences: The purpose of including limitation language is (a) to protect the directors against liability, and (b) to limit upstream security provided (to usually the subsidiary's equity).
□ No	

QUESTION 5:	5: Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with up- stream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?	
☐ Yes	⊠ No	
QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Yes	□ No	
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Yes	□ No	
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics	

8. Estonia



Reimo Hammerberg Partner

T: +372 6 400 958 E: reimo.hammerberg@sorainen.com



Kawe Plaza, Pärnu mnt 15 10141 Tallinn Estonia

www.sorainen.com

SORAINEN is a leading regional business law firm with fully integrated offices in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Belarus. Since its establishment in 1995, SORAINEN has been advising international and local organisations on all business law and tax issues involving the Baltic States and Belarus.

Uniquely, the firm boasts integrated regional teams covering all practice areas, a unified practice and quality management system and shared know-how base. Full integration and combining the resources of all four offices enables SORAINEN to provide seamless service to clients in local and cross-border assignments. For these reasons, SORAINEN is usually the first choice not only for complex domestic transactions, but especially for regional projects and for clients with operations in several Baltic States or Belarus.

QUESTION 1:	ls granting upstream security in principle possible i	n your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	: Are there any corporate benefit, financial assistance in your jurisdiction?	e and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	benefit	□ Company benefit required☑ Group benefit sufficient
	assistance	
□ Capital mai	aintenance	
QUESTION 3:	. 5 .	ng such rules in your jurisdiction?
☐ Invalidity of	of security	
⊠ Civil liability		☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
☑ Criminal Lia	iability of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to include li the legal consequences?	mitation language and if so, what are in essence
□ Yes		Legal consequences: N/a.
⊠ No		
QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisd besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder appro	liction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security val, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes		□No

QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
☐ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics
N/a	

9. Finland



Päivi Toivari Partner

T: +358 29 000 62 37 E: paivi.toivari@krogerus.com Krogenus

Unioninkatu 22 00130 Helsinki Finland

www.krogerus.com

Krogerus is one of the largest corporate law firms in Finland. Their practice covers a broad spectrum of transactional, dispute resolution and regulatory matters. The firm has a particularly strong focus in the energy, finance, food and beverage, healthcare, real estate, technology and telecommunications sectors. Clients include leading public and private companies, multinationals, banks and other financial institutions as well as private equity investors. They also advise governments, governmental authorities and international organizations. Krogerus is regularly retained in some of the most challenging and high-profile assignments in the Finnish market.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security	n principle possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefi in your jurisdiction?	t, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
⊠ Corporate be	enefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial as:	sistance	
☐ Capital main	tenance	
QUESTION 3:		nsequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
	security	
☑ Civil liability	of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
☑ Criminal Liability of		 ☑ Director of company ☑ Director of shareholder ☑ Shareholder ☑ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jui the legal consequences?	isdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: The enforcement of security is limited to the extent the company receives corporate benefit from the arrangement or to the extent it does not breach the financial assistance prohibition, as applicable.
□ No		

QUEST	DN 5: Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUEST	ION 6: Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ Yes	⊠ No
QUEST	ION 7: Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUEST	ION 8: Comments/Specifics
(1)	Finnish law only provides explicit rules regarding financial assistance and corporate benefit for limited liability companies (osakeyhtiö, O
	Security or guarantees granted by a limited liability company for the purpose of financing the acquisition of its own shares or the share of its parent company are void.
(3)	ender liability will only apply in exceptional cases.
	Shareholder resolutions are often obtained to minimize potential risk as granting upstream security is not customarily within the line business of a limited liability company.

10. France



Yannick Le Gall Finance Partner

T: +33 1 53 57 71 71 E: legall@de-pardieu.com



Frank Bauermann
Managing Associate

T: +33 1 53 57 71 71

E: bauermann@de-pardieu.com

DE PARDIEU BROCAS MAFFEI

57 Avenue d'Iéna – CS 11610 75773 Paris Cedex 16 France

www.de-pardieu.com

Acknowledged among the leading business law firms in France, De Pardieu Brocas Maffei numbers over 120 lawyers, including 31 partners; its practice covers banking, finance & capital markets, mergers & acquisitions/private equity, restructuring & insolvency, litigation, real estate & real estate finance, competition law, tax law, public law and employment law.

De Pardieu Brocas Maffei, established in 1993, is widely recognized for its strong international practice, founded on the skills of its teams and their expertise in cross-border transactions.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in	n principle possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit in your jurisdiction?	, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
⊠ Corporate b	penefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial as	ssistance	
☑ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal con	sequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of	fsecurity	
⊠ Civil liability	<i>y</i> of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
☑ Criminal Lia	ability of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☑ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your juri	sdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: In essence (a) the security is limited to an amount equal to the amount which is on-lent by the parent company and (b) financial assistance is prohibited.
□ No		

QUESTIC	N 5: Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTIC	N 6: Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
☐ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTIC	N 7: Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTIC	N 8: Comments/Specifics
	der French law (civil and commercial rules), financial assistance rules are only applicable to share companies (sociétés par actions), siétés anonymes, sociétés par actions simplifiées and sociétés en commandite par actions.
. ,	e application of the above rules is always influenced by the factual circumstances of each transaction and French courts have be ivering judgments in such respect on a case by case hasis

11. Germany



Dr Jens Linde Attorney-at-Law, Counsel

T: +49 69 247 047-78 E: jens.linde@pplaw.com



Michael Schuhmacher Attorney-at-Law, Senior Associate

T: +49 69 247 047-78
E: michael.schuhmacher@pplaw.com



An der Welle 3 60322 Frankfurt/Main Germany

www.pplaw.com

P+P Pöllath + Partners is an internationally operating German law firm, with more than 100 lawyers and tax advisors in Berlin, Frankfurt and Munich. The firm provides informed expertise and innovative solutions, as well as impartial legal and tax advice in the following practice groups: mergers & acquisitions, private equity, distressed M&A and restructuring, corporate and capital market law, real estate transactions, venture capital, private funds, supervisory law, tax law, succession and estates, process management and arbitration, anti-trust law.

P+P professionals concentrate on very few areas and are therefore at the top of their fields of expertise. Many are ranked among the top lawyers and tax advisors in professional listings of national and international surveys (Rankings). P+P advises its clients and also renders second opinions and advice to other lawyers and tax advisors. P+P professionals publish and teach extensively for business, professional and academic audiences (Publications and Conferences).

P+P provides services only in specialized areas of expertise, but here we provide full service. This includes 24 hours/7 days a week office support, assistance in organizing a family office, providing book- or record-keeping services, running a "beauty contest" for a client, finding or out-placing executives, etc. According to clients' preferences, we also function as a one-stop shop for any transaction on which we advise by organizing (and in-sourcing) any state-of-the-art professional advice that we can not offer ourselves in any relevant jurisdiction.

QUESTION 1:	ls granting upstream security in principle possible	in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	: Are there any corporate benefit, financial assistance in your jurisdiction?	ce and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☐ Corporate b	benefit	☐ Company benefit required ☐ Group benefit sufficient
	assistance	
☑ Capital mai	aintenance	
QUESTION 3:	: What are the possible legal consequences of violat	ing such rules in your jurisdiction?
☐ Invalidity of	of security	
⊠ Civil liability	ty of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	iability of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to include I the legal consequences?	limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: The enforcement of the security is limited to the amount of any distributable reserves of the security provider.
□ No		
QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your juris besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder appro	diction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security oval, adequate fee etc.)?
□ Yes		⊠ No

QUES	TION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye:	S	□ No
QUES	TION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye:	S	□ No
QUES	TION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(1)		troversial whether limitation language is required if a domination agreement or a profit and loss transfer agreement is in place the security grantor and the shareholder for whose benefit the upstream security is given.
(2)		controversial whether the statutory rules dealing with the duties of the directors to maintain the liquidity of the company require n language which restricts the enforcement of the upstream security beyond the distributable reserves.
(3)	explicit r vide ups is given	law only provides explicit rules regarding financial assistance for stock corporations (Aktiengesellschaften or AG), whereas no rules exist for limited liability companies (Gesellschaften mit beschränkter Haftung or GmbH). A stock corporation may only protream security if there is a domination or a profit and loss transfer agreement with the shareholder for whose benefit the security in place and the enforcement is not permitted if the enforcement would cause an annual deficit of the stock corporation and the lder is not able to compensate that deficit in full.
(4)	buch or	ear whether the statutory limitation on asset stripping (Section 292 of the German Capital Investment Act (Kapitalanlagegesetz-KAGB)), if applicable to the AIFM in question, requires further limitation language which restricts the enforcement of the upstream in accordance with the asset stripping limitation.
(5)	A liability	y of the lender will only apply in exceptional cases.

12. Greece



Dr Stefanos J. Charaktiniotis Partner

T: +30 210 69 67 082 E: s.charaktiniotis@zeya.com ZEFOS # YANNOPOULOS

280 Kifissias Ave. 152 32 Halandri Greece

www.zeya.com

Zepos & Yannopoulos is an independent Greek law firm with a unique international orientation. The vast majority of the clients of the firm are foreign based. Zepos & Yannopoulos is the Greek member of numerous non-exclusive associations of leading law firms. For example, Zepos & Yannopoulos is the exclusive member in Greece for Lex Mundi – the world's leading network of independent law firms with in-depth experience in 100+ countries worldwide. Zepos & Yannopoulos is the Greek member firm for Taxand.

QUESTION 1:	1: Is granting upstream security in principle possible in your juris	diction?
⊠ Yes	□ No	
QUESTION 2:	2: Are there any corporate benefit, financial assistance and/or ca in your jurisdiction?	pital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☐ Corporate b		ny benefit required penefit sufficient
	assistance	
□ Capital mai	naintenance	
QUESTION 3:	3: What are the possible legal consequences of violating such ru	es in your jurisdiction?
	of security	
⊠ Civil liability		r of company r of shareholder older
⊠ Criminal Lia		r of company r of shareholder older
QUESTION 4:	4: Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to include limitation la the legal consequences?	nguage and if so, what are in essence
□ Yes	Legal cons	requences: N/a.
⊠ No		
QUESTION 5:	5: Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to a besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate	
⊠ Yes	□No	

QUE	STION 6: Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Ye	es	
QUE	STION 7: Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Ye	es	
QUE	STION 8: Comments/Specifics	
(1)	According to Art. 23a of Law 2190/1920 (financial assistance rules) as currently in force, a Greek corporation is prohibited loans or concluding any form of agreement accommodating the provision of credit to certain persons, including, but no controlling shareholders or other legal entities which are controlled by such shareholder(s) (e.g. sister companies). Same applicable for guarantees, except if certain restrictive conditions apply.	t limited to, its
(2)	A legal entity is considered as exercising "control" on another entity in case it falls under one of the items of Art. 32 of L (amending Art 42e para. 5 of Law 2190/1920), which describes which entities are "affiliated". Furthermore, two legal e considered as "affiliated" in case they are subsidiaries or subsidiaries of subsidiaries of the same controlling entity, even if does not participate directly in the share capital of the other subsidiary.	ntities may be
(3)	This means that upstream loans or guarantees (i.e. from a Greek subsidiary to its parent) as well as loans or guarantees "affiliated" entities (i.e. from a Greek subsidiary to another subsidiary of the group) are prohibited (as explained above guar allowed only under very restrictive conditions). It has been accepted by major Greek scholars that such restriction aims ultimate controlling shareholder from serving its own interests by transferring money from one subsidiary to another, and ing one of its subsidiaries as a simple "shell", to the detriment of minority shareholders and creditors.	antees may be to prohibit the
(4)	Should the movement of cash be actually a loan or guarantee between sister companies or between the Greek entity and it be against Greek financial assistance rules.	s parent, it will:
(5)	On a separate note, the prohibition of Art. 23a on loans and guarantees means that any such loan or guarantee is considered. Such invalidity may be invoked by the company itself, its shareholders, its creditors, as well as any third party having a loan.	

Also, the violation of the prohibitions of Art. 23a may result in criminal sanctions against the violating persons as well as the persons who

dealt with it (e.g. members of the board of directors).

13. Hungary



Dr Zoltán Forgó Managing Partner

T: +36 1 214 00 80 E: forgoz@fdlaw.hu Alkotás u. 17-19 1123 Budapest Hungary

www.fdlaw.hu

Chambers and Partners and European Legal Experts.

Forgó, Damjanovic & Partners is one of the leading independent commercial law firms in Hungary. The firm and its lawyers are highly rated by such independent international legal directories and publications as The European Legal 500, Chambers and Partners and European Legal Experts.

All lawyers of Forgó, Damjanovic are proficient in English.

Whilst Forgó, Damjanovic provides its business clients with all the benefits of a full service law firm, it has an especially strong track record in the fields of M&A and Private Equity transactions, Banking and Financing, Employment Law and Dispute Resolution.

The clients of Forgó, Damjanovic includes foreign corporations, the Hungarian businesses of multinational companies and medium to large Hungarian businesses. Forgó, Damjanovic is typically instructed in complex transactions and legal disputes, cases of a cross-border nature, those demanding high quality English language documentation and/or involving clients who require an international level of service.

Forgó, Damjanovic offers specialist expertise for banking and capital markets services.

Forgó, Damjanovic & Partners has represented numerous banks and corporate clients in banking and capital markets transactions, and provided financial enterprises and investment funds with legal advice on licensing and regulatory matters. The firm has also conducted legal due diligence on financial enterprises and acted in banking litigation cases. Forgó, Damjanovic regularly acts as local counsel, in conjunction with foreign legal advisors, in cross-border transactions and on transactions referred by international law firms.

QUESTION 1:	QUESTION 1: Is granting upstream security in principle possible in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	: Are there any corporate benefit, financial assista in your jurisdiction?	nce and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
⊠ Corporate l	benefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	assistance	
⊠ Capital mai	aintenance	
QUESTION 3:	. , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	ating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☐ Invalidity o	of security	
☑ Civil liability	ty of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☑ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	iability of	 ☑ Director of company ☑ Director of shareholder ☑ Shareholder ☑ Lender
QUESTION 4:	: Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to includ the legal consequences?	e limitation language and if so, what are in essence
☐ Yes		Legal consequences: N/a.
⊠ No		
QUESTION 5:	: Are there any other measures required in your jur besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder app	risdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security proval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes		□ No

QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Yes	□ No	
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Yes	□ No	
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics	
. ,	an law only provides explicit rules regarding financial assistance for open stock corporations (nyílvánosan működő részvénytár- Nyrt), whereas no explicit rules exist for closed stock corporations (zártkörűen működő részvénytársaság, Zrt), limited liability	

- saság, Nyrt), whereas no explicit rules exist for closed stock corporations (zártkörűen működő részvénytársaság, Zrt), limited liability companies (korlátolt felelősségű társaság, Kft), and other legal persons.

 (2) Open stock corporations shall be allowed to provide financial assistance to third parties for the acquisition of shares issued by the open
- (2) Open stock corporations shall be allowed to provide financial assistance to third parties for the acquisition of shares issued by the open stock corporation only under market conditions, from the assets available for the payment of dividends, provided that the general meeting approved such decision by at least a three-quarters majority upon recommendation by the management board. The recommendation shall contain the reasons for the financial assistance, the risks involved, the conditions, the price of the shares and the advantages the company is likely to gain by providing such financial assistance. The management board shall submit the recommendation to the court of registry.
- (3) The executive officers of a Hungarian company are subject to a general obligation to act in the interest of that company in relation to all their actions on behalf of the company, including when granting security for the benefit of third parties.
- (4) The lenders may not accept as collateral its own shares or the shares issued by its subsidiary or holding company. The lender may not take any risk for the acquisition of its own shares or the shares of its subsidiary or holding company.

14. Ireland



Rachel Stanton
Partner

T: +353 1 639 50 00 E: rachel.stanton@williamfry.com



Jason Hollis Associate

T: +353 1 489 65 10

E: jason.hollis@williamfry.com



2 Grand Canal Square D02 A342, Dublin 2 Ireland

www.williamfry.com

Leading law firm William Fry has over 310 legal and tax professionals and over 430 staff. Our client-focused service combines technical excellence with commercial awareness and a practical, constructive approach to business issues. We advise leading domestic and international corporations, financial institutions and government organisations. We regularly act on complex, multi-jurisdictional transactions and commercial disputes. Strong client relationships and high quality advice are the hallmarks of our business.

We are ranked by international directories, clients and market commentators alike as being a leader in our main areas of work: Corporate & M&A, Banking & Finance, Litigation & Dispute Resolution, Asset Management & Investment Funds, Real Estate, Insurance, Tax, Projects & Construction, Employment & Benefits and Technology.

Our head office is in Dublin. We have offices in London, New York and Silicon Valley and a global law firm network to service our clients at home and abroad. Our capability is enhanced by our alliance with Tughans, Northern Ireland's largest law firm, through which we provide an all island solution.

The Firm's priorities are focused on the need to achieve results for clients. Continued investment in people, technology and research maintain the Firm's ability to provide practical and prompt solutions, while devoting exacting attention to detail.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in	principle possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, in your jurisdiction?	financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	enefit	☐ Company benefit required ☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial as	sistance	
□ Capital main	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	sequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
	security	
⊠ Civil liability	of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	bility of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your juristhe legal consequences?	sdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: The upstream security is expressed not to be given in any respect that would contravene Irish financial assistance rules. The purpose is to prevent the upstream security from being void in all respects.
□ No		

QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
☐ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics

Subject to certain exemptions, there is a general prohibition on Irish companies providing upstream security for the purpose of the subscription or acquisition of the shares in their direct or indirect parent companies. A whitewash procedure is available to Irish companies (other than public limited companies) providing upstream security for the subscription or acquisition of shares in a direct or indirect parent company (other than an acquisition of shares in a parent public limited company).

15. Italy



Eugenio Siragusa Partner

T: +39 06 678 49 77 E: e.siragusa@nctm.it



Via Delle Quattro Fontane, 161 00184 Rome Italy

www.nctm.it

NCTM is one of the leading law firms in Italy. Our strengths are more than 250 professionals including the 59 active and dynamic equity partners who drive the firm, offices in Milan, Rome, Verona, London, Brussels and Shanghai, a vocation for innovation and independence and a great client base.

We deliver integrated legal services to enterprises and financial institutions through multidisciplinary teams reflecting client needs. We believe the growth in the number and needs of our clients is testimony to the success of our strengths and our culture.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in principle	possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, financial a in your jurisdiction?	assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	penefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
☑ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal consequences	of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of	security	
☑ Civil liability	<i>r</i> of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	ıbility of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to the legal consequences?	include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
Yes ✓ Yes		Legal consequences: Limitation language provisions, within a specific asset security, aim to fix the maximum amount secured in such a way that permits to the security provider to preserve its share capital if the security is enforced. Therefore, security is granted also on the basis of a prior evaluation of the admittable level of maximum secured amount and the possible adverse consequences in respect of the capital maintenance rules.
□ No		

QUES	STION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Ye	2S	□ No
QUES	STION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	2 S	□ No
QUES	STION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	es	□ No
QUES (1)		Comments/Specifics cific regard to corporate benefit, financial assistance and capital maintenance, it is worth noting that such matters have been fully a damong time by corporate law and also by case law.
(2)	of the It	ular, art. 2358 (in respect of "società per azioni" or "S.p.a.") and art. 2474 (in respect of "società a responsabilità limitata" or "S.r.l.") alian civil code, inter alia, expressly prevent a company from providing, directly or indirectly, guarantees or asset securities, i.e. in securities, for the acquisition or the subscription of their own shares.
(3)		stream security is granted out of the above scope, no express Italian law provision prevents a joint stock company or a limited company to grant upstream security, notwithstanding, the general rules below will apply.
(4)	intercom which af	from one hand, directors shall act – at any time – in their own company's interest ("duty of care"); from the other hand, within apany transactions, the board of directors of a subsidiary, of the parent and of other members of the group, may, in taking decisions fect their company, have also regard to the overall interests of the group of companies to which their company belongs, as in the he interpretation and application of group company law provisions (art.s 2497 and ff. of the Italian civil code) as interpreted by purts.
(5)	within a	ulty is not unlimited, because a reasonable and fair balance (offsetting benefits) between the interest of the individual companies group and the overall interest of the group shall be undertaken, through a kind of assessment that is mainly a financial and ecoather than legal, and that involves the liabilities assumed by the management bodies of the company.
(6)	holders	ules are violated, then, the directors of the companies involved may be held liable towards the company's creditors, minority share- and the company itself ("indemnifiable entities"); further, also any other person involved or who benefits of the relevant transaction der specific circumstances, be deemed jointly liable vis-à-vis such indemnifiable entities.
(7)	Also a cr	iminal liability of the directors of the companies involved may be envisaged, under specific circumstances.

- (8) With specific regard to the case of acquisition or subscription of their own shares, the violation of financial assistance rules, as they are considered mandatory law provisions under Italian jurisdiction, could lead to the invalidity of the security granted, according to art. 1418 of the Italian Civil Code.
- (9) It is possible for directors to partially reduce some of the above risks by asking for a prior approval by the company's shareholders, thus reducing the possibility for the same shareholders who have agreed with the issue of the security to act against the directors.
- (10) In order to encourage the acquisition of shares by the company's or group company's employees, an exception to the general prohibition (under art. 2359 of the Italian Civil code) is provided for loans and guarantees granted in favor of such employees of joint stock companies. Moreover, in such case, even if not a proper "whitewash" is designed, joint stock companies (società per azioni) may lawfully grant loans and upstream security by observing a special procedure under the Italian civil code, which involves the shareholders and the board of directors.
- (11) Furthermore, specific procedures (regulated by the Italian banking act and related rules) need to be implemented when upstream securities are to be granted within the context of a group company made by banks or financial institutions, whose core business is also to issue guarantees in favor of third parties.

16. Latvia



Santa Rubīna Senior Associate

T: +371 67 365 000 E: santa.rubina@sorainen.com



Valdemara Centre, 4th floor Kr. Valdemāra 21 LV-1010 Riga Latvia www.sorainen.com

SORAINEN is a leading regional business law firm with fully integrated offices in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Belarus. Since its establishment in 1995, SORAINEN has been advising international and local organisations on all business law and tax issues involving the Baltic States and Belarus.

Uniquely, the firm boasts integrated regional teams covering all practice areas, a unified practice and quality management system and shared know-how base. Full integration and combining the resources of all four offices enables SORAINEN to provide seamless service to clients in local and cross-border assignments. For these reasons, SORAINEN is usually the first choice not only for complex domestic transactions, but especially for regional projects and for clients with operations in several Baltic States or Belarus.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in pri	nciple possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, fina in your jurisdiction?	ancial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	enefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
☐ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal consequ	uences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of	security	
⊠ Civil liability	r of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
□ Criminal Liability of		 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdic the legal consequences?	tion to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
☑ Yes		Legal consequences: In respect of the corporate benefit the limitation language varies on case-by-case basis. If the management is concerned regarding its liability, then, for example, it can be stated that the provision of security interests is valid as far as this does not trigger any liability of the management board members of the Latvian company and its parent company. There is no limitation language that could be used to mitigate risks related to the financial assistance.

QUE	511UN 5:	besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Y	es	□ No
QUE	STION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ Y	es	⊠ No
QUE	STION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Y	es	□ No
QUE	STION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(1)	rules exi and sucl	aw only provides explicit rules regarding financial assistance for stock corporations (akciju sabiedrības, AS), whereas no explicit st for limited liability companies (sabiedrības ar ierobežotu atbildību, SIA). AS is precluded to finance acquisition of its own shares a transactions would be void. The law is silent on whether this prohibition would also apply to acquisition of shares of the parent y or holding company. We believe that such financing is not prohibited.
(2)		ave been attempts to apply by analogy financial assistance rules applicable to stock corporations to limited liability companies, ur opinion, such approach is not correct.
(3)	in the in	ctors of a Latvian company (both SIA and AS) are subject to a general obligation to act as prudent and diligent manager, i.e., act terests or the company, in relation to all their actions on behalf of the company, including when granting security interests for the of third parties.
(4)	challeng the shar the own	t of remuneration on an arms' length basis decreases a) the risk of transaction for provision of financing or security interests being ed as a loss making transaction in case of insolvency, and b) risk of qualifying the provision of security as unfounded payment to eholder that should be repaid to the company. The shareholders cannot receive payments from the company, if the net value of funds of the company after the disbursement shall become less, than the total amount of the equity capital of the company. This o both AS and SIA.
(5)	pany ma pensatic compan the liabil compan anyways the trans	there is no group of companies agreement concluded between the company and, for example, its shareholder, a dominant company not use its influence in order to induce a dependent company to conclude a transaction disadvantageous to it, unless a company for losses incurred as a result of such transaction are compensated. Failure to compensate the losses caused to the dependent yor failure to grant it the rights of claim by the end of the reporting year may trigger the liability of the dominant company and also lity of the legal representatives of the dominant company towards dependent company for the losses caused to the dependent y. The dominant company may avoid liability if it proves that a prudent and careful manager of an independent company would be enter into such transaction. Furthermore, in the dependency statement the management board of the company should describe sactions concluded under the influence of a dominant company or concluded in its or other group companies' interests, specificating at the transactions disadvantageous to the dependent company as well as describing whether the company has received a compensation. The regulation is different if an agreement of group of companies is concluded.

(6)	Highly theoretically management of the Latvian company could be exposed to criminal liability for making the company insolvent due to provision of upstream security without receiving adequate compensation, however, in practice there have to exceptional circumstance for commencement of criminal proceedings.

17. Lithuania



Vilius Bernatonis
Partner, Head of Banking & Finance

T: +370 52 51 44 44 E: vilius.bernatonis@tgslegal.com



Marius Matiukas Senior Associate

T: +370 52 51 44 44 E: marius.matiukas@tgslegal.com



Didžioji 23 01128 Vilnius Lithuania

www.tarkgruntesutkiene.com

Tark Grunte Sutkiene (TGS) is a full-service law firm with a strong team of highly qualified professionals who advise clients on complicated financial transactions, in resolution of disputes and in performing analysis covering both public and private law in Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia. The strategic partner of TGS in Belarus is law firm Vlasova, Mikhel & Partners.

Our mission is to be an innovative and proactive law firm creating added value and advising our clients how to achieve their goals and make their businesses prosper. We deliver innovative solutions facilitating our clients' success in the global market and, most importantly, we give our clients the confidence they need.

Today, the TGS Vilnius office employs over 80 specialists of law, this figure is above 150 across all the three Baltic States.

The professionals working in the law firm are long-standing markets participants in Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia. Both local and international clients rely on their reputation and experience. All three offices participated in many major transactions that were conducted in the Baltic States since restoration of their independence. Our clients are international and Lithuanian companies, banks and other financial institutions, public organisations, such as European Commission, Directorate-General for Justice and Consumers, the European Investment Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Nordea Bank Group, Swedbank Group, SEB Group, Unicredit Bank Group, If P&C Insurance AS, Seesam Insurance AS, ING Bank N.V, The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V.

TGS offices in Vilnius, Riga, Tallinn and Tartu provide legal services in the Lithuanian, Latvian, Estonian, English, Russian, Polish, Finnish, German, and French languages.

TGS is regular Baltic partner of international law firms such as Clifford Chance LLP, Allen & Overy LLP, Hogan Lovells International LLP, Shearman & Sterling, Mannheimer Swartling and Norton Rose LLP.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in	principle possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, in your jurisdiction?	financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	penefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial as	ssistance	
☑ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal cons	equences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of	fsecurity	
⊠ Civil liability	<i>t</i> of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
☑ Criminal Lia	ability of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your juris the legal consequences?	diction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: The enforcement of security is limited to the amount provided for in the security agreement or the agreement from which secured contractual obligations stems.
□ No		

		besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Ye	es	□ No
QUES	STION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ Ye	es	⊠ No
QUES	STION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	<u>e</u> s	□ No
QUES	STION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(1)		vers are based on private limited liability companies (uždaroji akcinė bendrovė or LLC) and public limited liability companies endrovė or PLC) as these legal forms are typically preferred by foreign investors.
(2)	ployees,	e a number of exceptions to the general restriction on financial assistance, including for certain acquisitions of shares by em- employees of holding companies and subsidiaries as well as for financial assistance granted by financial institutions fulfilling all requirements.
(3)	such sec	of security is one of the possible legal consequences of violating corporate benefit or financial assistance rules while granting urity. If there is a violation of the corporate benefit rules, bad faith of the creditor is required for invalidity. In contrast, the bad sirement is not applicable upon a violation of the financial assistance rules. Despite the fact that there is no specific ground for resulting from an infringement of the capital maintenance rules, general grounds (e.g. infringement of other creditors' rights) may red.
(4)	sharehol	the general manager and members of managing bodies are liable for damages as they have fiduciary duties. Civil liability of ders arises in the event the company cannot fulfil its obligations due to the shareholder performing in bad faith. With regard to the ity of the general manager and members of management bodies of the shareholder, the above-mentioned rules of the general civil f members of management bodies apply. A lender would become liable only in exceptional cases and only if the lender performs th.
(5)	and mem	corporate benefit, financial assistance or capital maintenance rules may result in the criminal liability of the general manager abers of management bodies, in particular if such violation inflicts loss on the company or its creditors (legal grounds of criminal ary). The criminal liability of the shareholder and/or its general manager and members of management bodies would arise only in hal cases. The criminal liability of the lender acting in bad faith may arise, however we are not aware of any such case.

QUESTION 5: Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security

(6) There are some measures that may possibly be invoked to minimize risks related to upstream security in relation to the corporate benefit rules, such as an adequate fee paid to the company issuing upstream security and limitation of maximum exposure under provided security preventing possible insolvency due to enforcement of such security. Shareholder's approval is often used in order to minimize risks of the general manager and members of management bodies, however its legal consequences are debatable (i.e. it is disputed whether such measure would prevent the occurrence of civil liability of the general manager and members of the management body to their shareholders, nonetheless civil liability to other creditors of the company would occur).

18. Luxembourg





T: +352 246 185 20 E: jimenez@sjl-legal.com



Quentin Hubeau

T: +352 246 185 20 E: hubeau@sjl-legal.com



45, allée Scheffer 2520 Luxembourg Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

www.sjl-legal.com

Sedlo Jimenez Lunz (SJL) is a recommended Luxembourg business law firm renowned for its strong expertise.

SJL acts for leading institutional clients and major corporate groups in complex cross-border transactions requiring comprehensive advice on various aspects of Luxembourg business law, including tax, banking & finance, structured finance, securitisations, public offerings and private placements of securities, alternative investment vehicles (SIFs and SICARs), restructuring & insolvency, M&A and corporate laws.

SJL is the advisor of choice for many top international law firms that do not have an office in Luxembourg.

SJL is considered as a Leading Firm and its partners have been recognised as Leading Lawyers in Their Field and are highly recommended by Chambers and Partners in particular.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in prin	ciple possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, final in your jurisdiction?	ncial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	penefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
☑ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:		ences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
Invalidity of the second sec	security	
⊠ Civil liability	/ of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	ability of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdicti	ion to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: Legal consequences: It is generally considered that a Luxembourg company may only grant a guarantee in favor of other group companies if it draws a sufficient corporate benefit from the transaction, as the granting of a guarantee in absence of sufficient corporate benefit may constitute an abuse of corporate assets which would be a criminal offence committed by the directors of the company and which may also have an impact on the validity and the enforceability of the guarantee, as it could be considered by a court as being null and void

because having an illicit cause (Article 171-1 of the Law dated 10 August

1915 on Commercial Companies, as amended).

In the absence of any published Luxembourg case law on the applicability of the relevant text to financing transactions, regard may be given to the situation in France, as the Luxembourg provision on abuse of corporate assets is based on the French one. It is however by no means certain that Luxembourg courts would adopt the same position as the French courts in the Rosenblum case (Cass. crim. 4 février 1985).

A limitation to the amount payable under the guarantee has the effect to prevent the guarantor to exceed its financial capabilities.

The inclusion of a limitation language is however not sufficient and the managers/directors of the guarantor will have to assess whether the guarantor has in fact a corporate benefit to grant the guarantee (ex. benefiting from of a cross-collateralization from other group members...) and make specific declarations in this respect in the minutes of the board deciding to enter into the guarantee.

□ No	
QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
☐ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
☐ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics

Currently financial assistance provisions do only apply to SAs (public limited liability companies) and SCAs (partnerships limited by shares). Specific white wash procedures are available in this respect since few years.

19. Malta



Nicolai Vella Falzon Partner

T: +356 21 241 232 E: nicolai.vellafalzon@fenlex.com



Peter Grima Associate

T: +356 21 241 232 E: peter.grima@fenlex.com



198, Old Bakery Street VLT1455 Valletta Malta

www.fenechlaw.com

Established in 1891, Fenech & Fenech Advocates is one of the longest established law firms in Malta. Fenech & Fenech is a full service multi-disciplinary law firm with diverse areas of expertise including corporate and commercial law, M&A transactions, financial services, banking, trusts and foundations, intellectual property, shipping and maritime law, employment law and various other areas.

The Firm is Malta's leading shipping law firm, with four separate and distinct departments dedicated to shipping – marine litigation, ship registration, ship finance, and yachting. It also boasts an experienced tax department which is one of the most experienced on the island. In addition, the Firm has also successfully set up practices in more specialized areas such as aviation law, ICT, iGaming, and eCommerce, energy law, environmental law, intellectual property law and art law.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in principle possi	ible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, financial assist in your jurisdiction?	tance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
⊠ Corporate b	benefit	☐ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	assistance	
□ Capital mai	aintenance	
QUESTION 3:		olating such rules in your jurisdiction?
Invalidity of the state of the stat	of security	
☑ Civil liability	ty of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
☐ Criminal Lia	ability of	 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to inclu the legal consequences?	ide limitation language and if so, what are in essence
☐ Yes		Legal consequences: N/a.
⊠ No		
QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your judicities besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approximately shareholder s	urisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security pproval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes		□ No

QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics
N/a	

20. The Netherlands



Anke van Holthe tot Echten Advocaat

T: +31 70 376 06 60 E: anke.vanholthe@barentskrans.nl



Lange Voorhout 3 2514 EA The Hague The Netherlands

www.barentskrans.nl

BarentsKrans is an independent Dutch law firm located in The Hague with nearly 70 lawyers. Excellent in dispute resolution and with a strong reputation for transactional advice, BarentsKrans is known for high-quality service across the following practices: Supreme Court Litigation, Intellectual Property, Corporate Litigation, Financial Litigation, Corporate and M&A, Labour Law, Real Estate and Competition.

In addition, our legal advisors have specialist expertise in several industry sectors, like Healthcare and Life Sciences, Energy and Financial Services.

Our clients include listed and privately held multinational companies and financial institutions with commercial interests in The Netherlands.

A unique combination of high quality advice, operational independence and knowledge of the Dutch legal and regulatory environment sets us apart among law firms in The Netherlands and positions us to focus exclusively on helping clients achieve their commercial objectives.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security i	n principle possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit in your jurisdiction?	t, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	penefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial as	ssistance	
□ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:		sequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
	security	
⊠ Civil liability	v of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
□ Criminal Lia	ability of	 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jur the legal consequences?	isdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: It is customary for the Facility Agreement to provide that Dutch Obligors have no liability under the guarantee to the extent that, if they were to have such liability, Dutch financial assistance rules would be violated.
□ No		

Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
□ No
Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ No
Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ No
Comments/Specifics

- (1) Financial assistance restrictions: Since the introduction of the Act on the Simplification and Flexibilisation of the B.V. (the "Wet vereen-voudiging en flexibilisering van het bv-recht", also referred to as the "Flex Act") on 1 October 2012, financial assistance restrictions do no longer apply to Dutch private companies with limited liability (i.e. Dutch B.V.'s). Financial assistance restrictions still apply to Dutch public companies with limited liability (i.e. Dutch N.V.'s).
- Corporate benefit: Under relevant Dutch law, a legal transaction entered into by a company can be nullified in the event that the corporate (2) objects of the company as laid down in its articles of association were exceeded by this transaction (ultra vires) and the other party to the transaction knew or should have known this without further investigation. Most authoritative writers take the view that the acts of a company should be in its best interests, in the sense that such acts must be conducive to the realization of the objects of the company as laid down in its articles of association. Only the company itself or a trustee in bankruptcy is entitled to invoke the nullification of the transaction. As for upstream security, the Dutch courts have in a limited number of cases accepted the nullification of granting such security interest on the basis of the ultra vires doctrine. This, however, always occurred in fairly specific circumstances, for example, because the granting of the security interests was not provided for in the corporate objects clause of the company. The opinions in literature differ considerably as to the question of whether and, if so, under what particular circumstances, the granting of an upstream security interest can be nullified. Furthermore, with respect to upstream security or lateral security interests, a distinction can generally be drawn between a group financing pursuant to which all subsidiaries are borrowers under the credit facilities or are entitled to use the credit facility extended to the parent or a group finance company (group financing)., on the one hand, and the financing of one particular borrower for the purpose of its own activities on the other. Although the legal ultra vires test would be no different, group financing gives rise to less risk because all like hood the interests of the companies involved in the financing would be more clearly served, and therefore the issuance of security would be equally in the interest of the companies.

(3) Pauliana: If (i) a Dutch guarantor enters into a guarantee under a facility agreement without an obligation to do so, (ii) one or more of the guarantor's creditors (existing or future) are prejudiced as a result of the guarantee, and (iii) at the time the guarantor entered into the guarantee both it and the finance parties knew or should have known that one or more creditors would be prejudiced, the creditor or creditors concerned (or, in practice the guarantor's trustee in bankruptcy) may nullify the guarantee on the basis of Dutch "Pauliana" rules. A guarantee under a facility agreement will usually be entered into without an obligation to do so. Furthermore, if a guarantee is called, this could result in the guarantor becoming insolvent. In that case, the guarantor's creditors may be prejudiced as a result of the guarantee as (i) creditors must share the assets available for their recourse with the finance parties as beneficiaries under the guarantee, and (ii) the guarantee is unlikely to have produced tangible benefits to the guarantor which also benefit its creditors (but exceptions may apply).

21. Poland







Łukasz Szegda

Marcin Smolarek

Al. Ujazdowskie 10 00-478 Warsaw Poland

T: +48 608 200 891 E: lukasz.szegda@wardynski.com.pl T: +48 668 466 588

E: marcin.smolarek@wardynski.com.pl

www.wardynski.com.pl

We provide a full range of legal assistance in financing, with specific emphasis on project finance, real estate financing and acquisition financing, as well as debt restructuring. We also advise on regulatory matters affecting the operation of banks and other financial institutions, securitisation transactions, sales of loan portfolios, issues of debt securities, and establishment of branches of lending institutions.

Our clients include major Polish and foreign banks and other financial institutions, borrowers, private equity funds, bond trustees and bondholders. We act for borrowers from many industries, including the service sector, real estate, manufacturing, energy and metallurgy.

Thanks to regular cooperation with leading international law firms in the world's major financial centres, we advise clients effectively in international financial transactions involving entire capital groups.

We regularly conduct training on project finance, debt restructuring and other banking issues. We also offer our clients free in-house training tailored to their needs.

As a member of the Loan Market Association, we have ongoing access to standard loan documentation and training organised by LMA.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in pr	inciple possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, fin in your jurisdiction?	ancial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☐ Corporate b	penefit	☐ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	ssistance	
☑ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal conseq	uences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of	security	
☑ Civil liability	<i>t</i> of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
☑ Criminal Lia	ability of	 ☑ Director of company ☐ Director of shareholder ☐ Shareholder ☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdict the legal consequences?	ction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: The enforcement of the security granted by the Polish security provider is limited up to the then aggregative value of such Polish security provider's assets from time to time, less the aggregate value of such Polish security provider's liabilities, at such time and thus it does not result in insolvency of the relevant Polish security provider in the meaning of the Polish bankruptcy and restructuring law.
□ No		

QUEST	TON 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUEST	TION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUEST	TION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUEST	TION 8:	Comments/Specifics
1	panies. ⁻ commer of its sha financial	I assistance (question 2): Pursuant to the Polish law the regulations of the financial assistance regard only the joint stock com- There is no such regulation regarding the limited liability company. In respect of joint stock companies, art. 345 of the Polish cial companies code stipulates certain conditions for granting financial assistance by a joint stock company for the acquisition ares. If these strict conditions are not met, then the financial assistance is unlawful and all the payments are invalid. Moreover, assistance is understood very broadly as providing by a company, directly or indirectly, any financing for the purposes of the on of shares issued by that company, inter alia by granting of credit, loan, guarantee or security.
		te benefit (question 2): The Polish law does not recognize the doctrine of the corporate benefit, however please note that the ment board of the company cannot act to the detriment of the company.
1	please n	tity (question 7): In general in Poland there are no differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider. However, ote that there is one exception. The financial pledge (in Poland there are three kinds of pledge: registered pledge, civil pledge and pledge) cannot be established by a natural person.

22. Portugal



Filipe Lowndes Marques
Partner

T: +351 213 826 601 E: flmarques@mlgts.pt



Rua Castilho, 165 1070-050 Lisboa Portugal

www.mlgts.pt

Internationally recognized as a leading independent law firm in Portugal, Morais Leitão, Galvão Teles, Soares da Silva & Associados' reputation is based on the excellence and breadth of its legal services, the professionalism and the innovative solutions of its team

Morais Leitão, Galvão Teles, Soares da Silva & Associados offers specialised services in the main areas of law, having been involved in many of the largest and most important deals in Portugal, as well as in high-value cross-border transactions and disputes.

Its client list includes some of the largest Portuguese and international companies and business groups as well as public and private entities, giving the firm deep insight into the national and international business environment from a legal perspective.

In 2015, Morais Leitão, Galvão Teles, Soares da Silva & Associados was distinguished with the "Chambers Europe Award for Excellence in Portugal 2015", was "Band One" in 19 areas of legal practice (Chambers & Partners), and the only law firm in Portugal with Tier One in all areas of legal practice on Legal 500.

The firm promotes its economic sustainability based on a fundamental bedrock of ethical and humanistic values. Morais Leitão, Galvão Teles, Soares da Silva & Associados is confident that this approach will ensure that its collaborators are responsible and fulfilled, while contributing towards a positive business environment and the betterment of the community within which the firm operates.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in p	rinciple possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, fi in your jurisdiction?	nancial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate be	enefit	□ Company benefit required☑ Group benefit sufficient
	sistance	
☑ Capital main	tenance	
QUESTION 3:		quences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Civil liability	of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
☐ Criminal Liab	pility of	 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisd the legal consequences?	iction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: Security often contain limitation language that the security is only valid to the extent that it does not violate financial assistance rules, which avoids the whole security being void in the case of financial assistance but only the part that is used for the purchase.
□ No		

QUEST	TON 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
□ Yes		⊠ No
QUEST	TION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUEST	TION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		⊠ No
1	In order to be in a limited b	Comments/Specifics for a company to be able to grant upstream security without corporate interest being required, the borrower and the lender need "group relationship" or in a "relationship of control". Since only companies limited by quotas (sociedades por quotas), companies by shares (sociedades anónimas) and partnerships limited by shares (sociedades em comandita por acções) can be in such a chip, only those companies can grant or receive upstream security without corporate interest being required.
(company capital o directors company	npanies are in a "relationship of control" when a company exercises dominant influence over the other. It is assumed that one y has control over the other when the former, directly or through other companies or individuals, is the majority owner of the share of the latter company or of the members' voting rights, or has the power to designate the majority of the members of the board of sor of the supervisory body. A "group relationship" occurs when a company is the unique owner of the share capital of another yor when two companies agree to be governed by the same board of directors (irrespective of whether one of the companies is er of a stake of the other's share capital).
i	issued b	ortuguese law, a company is not permitted to grant security to a third party as a means of allowing the latter to acquire shares y that company (financial assistance prohibition). This prohibition does not apply to transactions concluded by banks or other institutions in the normal course of business (this is a very restricted threshold and almost never applicable), nor to transac-

tions with a view to the acquisition of shares by or for the company's employees or the employees of an associate company (sociedade

As a general rule, security granted against the rules on upstream security is void. It is also possible that the company or the directors or shareholders of the company be held liable for damages resulting from the grant of security against the prohibition of financial assistance.

coligada), provided that those transactions do not have the effect of reducing the net assets available for distribution.

However, the violation of such rules is not in itself liable to amount to criminal liability.

23. Romania



Alina Radu Partner

T: +40 21 20 11 200 E: alina.radu@nndkp.ro



Larisa Tugui Senior Associate

T: +40 21 20 11 200 E: larisa.tugui@nndkp.ro



Bucharest Business Park
1A Bucuresti-Ploiesti Nat. Rd.,
Entrance A, 4th Floor, 1st District,
013681 Bucharest, Romania
www.nndkp.ro

Nestor Nestor Diculescu Kingston Petersen Legal & Tax ("NNDKP Legal & Tax") is a full-service law firm that distinguishes itself on the Romanian market through a thorough understanding of the industry particulars in a local and international context and unwavering commitment to client satisfaction.

We bring together some of the highest profile lawyers and tax advisors in Romania, their results reflecting an authentic mix of legal and tax insights, courtroom experience and practical business sense needed to prevail in a broad range of cases and transactions.

The NNDKP team specializes in all practice areas specific to business law, including: corporate law, mergers and acquisitions, dispute resolution, banking and finance, real estate, competition, infrastructure and PPP, energy and natural resources, intellectual property, taxation, public procurement, commercial contracts, environment, capital markets, employment law, data protection, IT, electronic communications and media, pharmaceuticals and healthcare, gaming, consumer protection and immigration.

NNDKP was granted "Law Firm of the Year in Romania" three times in the past seven years at the Chambers Europe Gala, a premiere on the Romanian legal market.

The firm is also ranked first in all practice areas researched by three other reputed international publications, Chambers & Partners (global edition), The European Legal 500 and IFLR 1000, the latter quoting in its 2016 edition that "Nestor Nestor Diculescu Kingston Petersen is one of the marquee names in Romania and this is reflected by the domestic firm's presence in the top tier of all our rankings". Chambers & Partners noted in one of its 2015 editorials: "This is the best law firm we have used. The lawyers are very available, provide answers on time and are very creative in their solutions. They are not scared of taking risks – they are quite brave compared to other law firms in this respect", while The European Legal 500 stated in its latest edition: "NNDKP has 'in-depth knowledge in all regulatory issues".

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in princ	siple possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, finar in your jurisdiction?	icial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	enefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
	sistance	
☐ Capital main	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:		ences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
	security	
⊠ Civil liability	of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	bility of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdicti the legal consequences?	on to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: Although, there is no unitary market practice in this respect, in last years it has become more frequent for borrowers to request the insertion of a limitation language stating that the secured

Legal consequences: Although, there is no unitary market practice in this respect, in last years it has become more frequent for borrowers to request the insertion of a limitation language stating that the secured obligations are limited to the maximum amount (a) for which the borrower can justify a corporate benefit and (b) which ensures compliance with the limitations included in art.s 272 and art. 1444 of the Romanian companies law (please see more details below) and art. 106 of the Romanian companies law (regarding financial assistance). The underlying aim of such limitation language is to limit any potential liability that may be incurred by the directors or shareholders of the company from granting the guarantee/security. However, to our knowledge, the effects of such limitation wording have not yet been tested in practice and (unless it

limits the secured obligations to an amount for which corporate benefit can be justified by the company), it is likely that it cannot eliminate the risks deriving from lack of corporate benefit (it can be a mitigation factor, but would not eliminate the risks).

□ No	
OUESTION E.	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to enaid/minimize viels related with unstream acquirty
QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ Yes	⊠ No
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(a) Rom the disc a busing court of (b)To av actual a	anian legislation and practice lack objective criteria for assessing corporate benefit, leaving this aspect, in case of a challenge, at cretion of the court. The existence of corporate benefit is a factual aspect, commercial in essence, that should be assessed from ess perspective by the Romanian company and its management and, in case of a challenge, it is to be ultimately determined by a law. Total violation of the secured obligations to the smount for which a corporate benefit can be sustained and justified by the Romanian company granting the security. Depending on ual circumstances, other mitigation factors may be considered.
When g that, in a for a di Romani (a) use	restrictions deriving from the Romanian companies law ranting upstream security, there are also certain provisions in the Romanian companies law no. 31/1990 (the "Companies Law") certain circumstances, may be of relevance. We note in particular that the Companies Law prohibits as a criminal offence the fact rector, founder (arguably, any shareholder may be deemed as falling under this category), manager or legal representative of a an company to: in bad faith the assets and goodwill of the company, for a purpose which is contrary to the company's interests or for its own or for favouring another company in which the respective person is directly or indirectly interested (art. 272 paragraph 1 (b) of the

Companies Law); or

(b) make a company managed by them, a company controlled by the latter, or a company which controls the company managed by them grant guarantees for their own debts (art. 272 paragraph 1 (c) of the Companies Law).

Also, art. 1444 of the Companies Law prohibits the granting by a Romanian company of a guarantee, directly or indirectly, in favour of its directors or related parties (spouse, relatives or next-of-kin up to the 4th degree). The prohibition also extends to any guarantee granted (directly or indirectly) by a Romanian company to a company (i) in which the director of the first company (or any of the above mentioned related parties) holds a participation of at least 20% or (ii) which is managed by the respective director or related parties. While we believe that these provisions should be strictly applied in case the director (or a related party) in question has a personal interest in the transaction, we note that there are views on the market that sustain the applicability of art. 1444 to any guarantee given by a Romanian company to a company (i) in which a director of the first company holds a participation of at least 20% or (ii) which has a joint director with the first company, irrespective of whether the director in question has a personal interest in the respective transaction.

As a rule, such legal provisions should be very strictly interpreted. However, they are quite unclear and subject to different interpretations in the legal literature. For example, even if art. 272 paragraph 1 (c) should not normally contemplate shareholders' acts, but directors' acts, a legislative amendment brought to the respective article appears to support the application of this provision to shareholders as well.

To the best of our knowledge, there is no relevant court practice so far in respect of the application of these provisions to granting of upstream security.

(3) Financial assistance

- (a) The Romanian companies law only provides the interdiction regarding financial assistance for joint stock companies (S.A.s). There are minor limited exceptions for credit institutions and other financial institutions or for the employees of the company.
- (b) Given that no explicit rules exist for limited liability companies (SRLs), it may be argued that the prohibition should not apply to this type of companies. However, in practice, there have been instances where Romanian courts have applied rules specific to joint stock companies to SRLs where they deemed that the underlying purpose protected by the relevant legal provisions justified the application of the same rules for both SRLs and SAs.
- (c) A loan or security granted by a SA for the purpose of the acquisition or subscription of its own shares by a third party is void. Moreover, in certain cases, breach of the financial assistance prohibition may trigger criminal liability for the directors or management of the company.
- (d) Unlike other jurisdictions, no whitewash procedure has been implemented in Romania.

(4) Other potential grounds for triggering liability of the shareholders or directors of the company

- (a) To mitigate risks, the Romanian company should also assess the granting of an upstream security and the consequences of potential payment/enforcement thereof from the perspective of its ability to satisfy its obligations towards its other creditors.
- (b) If for example, the granting of the security (and potential enforcement thereof) would trigger the inability of the Romanian company to comply with its obligations towards other creditors, there is a risk that the liability of its shareholders may be triggered based on the provisions of Art. 2371 (4) of the Companies Law (according to which, a shareholder can be held liable if it disposes of the company's assets as if they were its own assets or if it reduces the assets of the company in its own interest or in the interest of a third party, knowingly or being expected to know that this could lead to the inability of the respective company to comply with its obligations).
- (c) To the extent that the granting of the security (and potential enforcement thereof) would trigger the insolvency of the company, there is a risk that the liability of its directors, representatives, shareholders and/or other persons involved may be triggered based on the provisions of the Romanian insolvency law, according to which any person who caused the insolvency of a company though certain actions (such as, for example, the use of the company's assets for his/her own interest or in the interest of a third party or through any action wilfully taken which contributed to the insolvency of the company), may be obliged to pay part or all of the debts of the respective company (depending on the prejudice caused by that person's actions).
- (d) Also, in the event of the insolvency of the Romanian company, there is a risk of the security falling under the claw-back provisions under the insolvency legislation, including those referring to the annulment of the transactions at an undervalue (in which obligations assumed exceed by far the benefits incurred).

(5) Other aspects

- (a) As regards question 3 above, please note that, although the civil and/or criminal liability of a lender or a director of the shareholder may be triggered, this only applies in certain limited exceptional cases.
- (b) In terms of corporate approvals, depending on the constitutive act of the company and the amount of the secured obligations by reference to the company's assets, a shareholders' resolution empowering the directors of the company to sign the security, may be necessary.

24. Slovakia



Erik Seman Partner

T: +421 2 32 11 98 90 E: eseman@bargerprekop.com



Aupark Tower, Einsteinova 24 851 01 Bratislava Slovak Republic

www.bargerprekop.com

We have served both lenders and borrowers on all types of finance transactions, from simple and small to large and complex, for over 10 years. We are particularly experienced in representing both financial institutions and trading entities with their swaps and derivatives transactions.

Our attorneys have worked at prestigious European banking institutions and are pursuing advanced business and finance degrees.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in principle possil	ble in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	: Are there any corporate benefit, financial assist in your jurisdiction?	ance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☐ Corporate l	benefit	☐ Company benefit required ☐ Group benefit sufficient
	assistance	
☐ Capital mai	aintenance	
QUESTION 3:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	plating such rules in your jurisdiction?
Invalidity o □	of security	
☑ Civil liability	ty of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
⊠ Criminal Lia	iability of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	: Is it market practice in your jurisdiction to inclu the legal consequences?	de limitation language and if so, what are in essence
☐ Yes		Legal consequences: N/a.
⊠ No		
QUESTION 5:	: Are there any other measures required in your jubesides limitation language (e.g. shareholder ap	urisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security oproval, adequate fee etc.)?
□ Yes		⊠ No

QUEST	TION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
☐ Yes		⊠ No
QUEST	TION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
☐ Yes		⊠ No
QUEST	TION 8:	Comments/Specifics
. ,		v only provides explicit rules regarding financial assistance for stock corporations (akciová spoločnosť – a.s.), whereas no les exist for limited liability companies (spoločnosť s ručením obmedzeným – s.r.o.).
. ,	, ,	ranted by an a.s. for the purpose of acquisition of its own shares or the shares of its holding company is void. There are minor s for banks acting in ordinary course of business.
. ,		of a Slovak companies are subject to a general obligation to act in the interest of that company (due care) in relation to all their a behalf of companies, including when granting security for the benefit of third parties.

25. Slovenia



Jera Majzelj Senior Associate

T: +386 1 300 76 50 E: jera.majzelj@selih.si



Komenskega ulica 36 1000 Ljubljana Slovenia

www.selih.si

Odvetniki Šelih & partnerji, o.p., d.o.o. is a full-service business law firm that continues the tradition of a partnership established in 1961.

The firm has a client-oriented team: they are working hard to understand the clients' business goals and develop relationships which endure through good times and bad. The firm's lawyers try to anticipate and head off potential legal issues for the clients before they become commercial issues. They are absolutely committed to professional excellence and the highest levels of responsiveness, and pay meticulous attention to detail. This discipline, in addition to the hard work, knowledge and dedication to the highest level of ethical values, ensures that clients receive practical, precise and individually tailored legal advice.

Odvetniki Šelih & partnerji practices in the following areas: corporate and commercial law; mergers and acquisitions; real estate and construction; banking and finance; insurance law; energy and environmental law; antitrust and competition; litigation and alternative dispute resolution; insolvency and restructuring; intellectual property; capital markets; procurement law; labor law; consumer law and data protection; media law; telecommunications; and IT.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in princi	ple possible in your jurisdiction?	
⊠ Yes		□ No	
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed in your jurisdiction?		
☑ Corporate b	enefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient	
	esistance		
☑ Capital mai	ntenance		
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal consequen	ces of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?	
	security		
⊠ Civil liability	rof	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☐ Lender	
☑ Criminal Lia	bility of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender	
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your jurisdiction the legal consequences?	n to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence	
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: Limitation of the enforcement of the guarantee of security.	
□ No			
QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?		
□ Yes		⊠ No	

QUEST	ΓΙΟΝ 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUEST	ΓΙΟΝ 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUEST	ΓΙΟΝ 8:	Comments/Specifics
,	applicab share ca	naintenance rules applicable to limited liability companies (družba z omejeno odgovornostjo) differ in several aspects from those le to stock corporations (delniška družba). For example, capital maintenance rules for limited liability companies only protect pital and tied-up reserve. Also, shareholders in limited liability companies other than the borrower have an obligation to repay the y in case payment cannot be claimed from the borrower.
,	Transactions in which a company grants an advance payment or a loan for the purpose of acquiring its own shares and any other tran action having comparable effect (such as granting security) are void. Exemptions are available to financial institutions, employees are affiliated companies.	
		de facto group of companies or a contractual group of companies capital maintenance rules can, under certain conditions, dden by controlling company's instructions, whereby the controlling company is liable for the losses incurred.
. ,		erforming their duties, members of the management board must always act in the interest of the company, namely with the

26. Spain



Fernando Quicios Partner

T: +44 20 73 37 97 01 E: fquicios@perezllorca.com

Pérez-Llorca

24 Monument Street, 8th Floor EC3R 8AJ London United Kingdom

www.perezllorca.com

Pérez-Llorca is an independent law firm that strives for excellence and guarantees fast and flexible services. Our main objectives are to build long-term working relationships with clients and offer a high level of quality and efficiency in all the legal matters we work on. At Pérez-Llorca we contribute to the business success of our national and international clients. Attracted by our high-quality legal services, our commitment to continued innovation and our immensely talented and capable team of lawyers, our clients entrust us with their most significant transactions.

QUESTION 1: Is granting upstream sect	urity in principle possible in your jurisdiction?
☑ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 2: Are there any corporate b in your jurisdiction?	enefit, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate benefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial assistance	
☑ Capital maintenance	
OUESTIONS WILL IN THE	
QUESTION 3: What are the possible leg ☑ Invalidity of security	al consequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Civil liability of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
□ Criminal Liability of	 □ Director of company □ Director of shareholder □ Shareholder □ Lender
QUESTION 4: Is it market practice in yo the legal consequences?	ur jurisdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes	Legal consequences: The secured obligations are deemed to be extended only to such obligations that do not contravene mandatory Spanish law restrictions.
□ No	

QUESTION 5:	Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 8:	Comments/Specifics
	corporate legislation includes a general regulation on corporate benefit. This principle states that directors will discharge their du oyal representatives in the defense of the corporate interest. Such corporate interest consists of the interest of the company – as

- opposed to other interests, such as the interest of the shareholders, creditors or group companies. Thus, decisions taken by directors may be contested if they are not (or not as well) for the benefit of the company itself.
- However, as of today, there is no Spanish regulation on groups of companies. Thus, such concept as the group interest does not exist under (2)Spanish law. If the action taken by directors of a certain Spanish company (e.g., granting of security or issuing personal guarantees) benefits another group company (e.g., a foreign special purpose vehicle within the corporate structure), but not the Spanish company directly or indirectly, the action of the Spanish company is not analyzed in light of the benefit for the whole group, but on an isolated manner. This may lead to claims against the directors from creditors, shareholders or insolvency receivers in the framework of upstream or downstream guarantees if the Spanish company that grants security or provides guarantees but does not obtain a direct or indirect benefit in the form of monies from the underlying transaction.

27. Sweden



Jesper JohanssonPartner

T: +46 8 527 70 815 E: jesper.johansson@ lindahl.se



Emmeli Wennström Associate

T: +46 8 527 70 831 E: emmeli.wennstrom@ lindahl.se



Frida Karlsson Associate

T: +46 8 527 70 824 E: frida.karlsson@ lindahl.se



P.O. Box 1065 SE-101 39 Stockholm Sweden

www.lindahl.se

Advokatfirman Lindahl is Sweden's third largest business law firm. It is top-ranked and has a broad capacity, and cutting-edge expertise, in M&A, banking & finance, capital markets, intellectual property, and commercial dispute resolution. It is a market leader in the real property, energy and infrastructure, telecom, IT and media (TMT), life sciences and shipping sectors. The law firm has approximately 400 employees, of which two thirds are lawyers, and it has six offices in Sweden. Our strength lies in our ability to combine legal expertise and industry knowledge with thorough commercial understanding and technical skills. We take pride in offering direct, fast and accessible advice focussing on our clients' business needs – excellence without nonsense.

document. Is granting upstrea	in security in principle possible in your jurisdiction:
⊠ Yes	□ No
QUESTION 2: Are there any corpor in your jurisdiction?	orate benefit, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
□ Corporate benefit	□ Company benefit required □ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial assistance	
□ Capital maintenance	
QUESTION 3: What are the possil	ole legal consequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Invalidity of security	
☑ Civil liability of	☑ Director of company☑ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
☑ Criminal Liability of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4: Is it market practice the legal conseque	e in your jurisdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence nces?
∀es	Legal consequences: The limitation wording which is standard to include in security agreements and guarantees in the Swedish market is drafted to say that the relevant security/guarantee is only valid up to the amount permitted as a consequence of an application of the relevant provisions of the Swedish Companies Act. The legal consequence is that the value of the security/guarantee is limited in value to an amount which is permitted and works to protect the board members of the security/guarantee provider from civil liability.
□ No	

QUESTION 5: Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstr besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?		Are there any other measures required in your jurisdiction to avoid/minimize risks related with upstream security besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
□ Ye	28	⊠ No
QUES	STION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	?S	□ No
QUES	STION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Ye	?S	□ No
OUES	STION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(1)	The ans	wers are based on the rules which apply to Swedish limited companies (Sw.aktiebolag). In relation to loans, security and sees provided by other forms of legal entities, there are no specific rules under Swedish law. However, the rules applicable to limited ies may become relevant indirectly, depending on the circumstances at hand.
(2)	Please note that although there is a "whitewash procedure" for prohibited loans and security/guarantees this procedure is in practice no relevant, as an exemption from the rule will only be granted if there are particular reasons for the relevant loan/security/guarantee to b permitted. In an acquisition financing context, such particular reasons are generally not at hand.	
(3)	Please note that the Swedish rules regarding non-permitted loans and security/guarantees have two different applications – one for loans/security/guarantees granted outside of an acquisition financing context, and one which is aimed at the pure financial assistance scenario (i.e. where the purpose of the loan/security/guarantee is to assist in the financing of the purchase of shares of a company in the same group as the provider of the relevant loan/security/guarantee). For loans/security/guarantees that are not granted for the purpose of assisting in the financing of a purchase of shares in a company in the same group as the lender/security provider/guarantor, there is general exception in the Swedish companies act making such loans/security/guarantees permitted if made to or for the benefit of other members of the same group as the grantor.	

28. Switzerland



Dr Ansgar Schott LL.M.

T: +41 44 386 60 00 E: aschott@froriep.ch



Bellerivestrasse 201 8034 Zurich Switzerland

www.froriep.com

Founded in 1966, FRORIEP is one of the leading Swiss law firms. With around 90 lawyers and offices in Zurich, Geneva, Lausanne and Zug as well as in London and Madrid, we are serving clients from private individuals to large international corporations seeking Swiss law advice. We have a unique, truly integrated international structure and a strong cross-border focus. Our teams are tailor-made, assembled from every practice area and across our network of offices.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security in	n principle possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefit in your jurisdiction?	, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	enefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☐ Financial as	ssistance	
☑ Capital mai	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:		sequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☑ Civil liability	v of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
☑ Criminal Liability of		 ☑ Director of company ☑ Director of shareholder ☑ Shareholder ☑ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your juri the legal consequences?	sdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: The enforcement of upstream security is limited to the amount of any freely distributable reserves of the guarantor or security provider at the time of the enforcement. Such amount has to be confirmed by the company's auditors.
□ No		

QUL	3110N 3.	besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?
⊠ Y6	es	□ No
OUF:	STION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?
□ Ye	es	⊠ No
QUES	STION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?
□ Ye	es	⊠ No
QUES	STION 8:	Comments/Specifics
(1)		Ite benefit: The directors of a Swiss company are subject to a general obligation to act in the best interest of that company in rela- Ill their action on behalf of the company, including in the case of granting upstream security.
(2)	Financial assistance: There are no particular corporate rules on a Swiss company granting security to secure debt used to purchase it own shares or the shares of an affiliate.	
(3)	No particular restrictions on upstream security apply, if the security is granted at arm's length conditions. Since in practice it is difficult to determine whether the granting of security meets the arm's length test, it is advisable to treat the granting of upstream security as if the company pays a dividend. As a consequence, the board of directors and a general meeting of shareholders have to approve the granting of security and the enforcement of the security has to be limited to the freely distributable reserves. Also, the company's purpose claus should permit the granting of upstream security.	
(4)	Further,	upstream security failing to meet the arm's length test may give rise to tax consequences (in particular, withholding tax at 35%).
(5)	Lender l	iability will only apply in exceptional cases.

29. The United Kingdom



Matthew Ayre
Head of Finance

T: +44 20 72 95 33 04 E: matthew.ayre@traverssmith.com



James Bell Senior Professional Support Lawyer, Finance

T: +44 20 72 95 30 34 E: james.bell@traverssmith.com

TRAVERS SMITH

10 Snow Hill EC1A 2AL London United Kingdom

www.traverssmith.com

Over the years, we have nurtured a confident and collaborative approach to delivering excellence in an ever-changing legal landscape. As a result, we have carved a reputation for enterprising thinking and uncompromising quality.

We get straight to the point of the commercial challenges our clients face and make it our business to understand their industries, their practical challenges and their principal goals for the future. We want our clients to enjoy working with us so we attract the very best lawyers, some of the finest legal minds in the industry, who also possess a refreshingly understated approach to work and a sense of humour too. Combined with one of the highest staff retention rates in the City, this allows our clients to develop long-term relationships with consistent teams of exceptional lawyers who have a genuine in-depth understanding and interest in their businesses.

Our firm is defined by our independence, unique culture, deep commercial insight, progressive thinking and an incomparable client experience.

Above all else, this is a collegiate firm. We treat people with respect, allowing them to conduct business in the most effective way for our clients. This has led to a climate of shared knowledge and goals, supported by a friendly, engaging team spirit. From an induction that makes everyone feel part of the firm long before their first day to an alumni programme that fosters active and enduring relationships, our culture is singularly important in maintaining our success.

We are big fans of keeping things simple, sharp and to the point. But with personality. That's why our lawyers are so in demand.

QUESTION 1:	Is granting upstream security	in principle possible in your jurisdiction?
⊠ Yes		□ No
QUESTION 2:	Are there any corporate benefin your jurisdiction?	it, financial assistance and/or capital maintenance rules that need to be observed
☑ Corporate b	enefit	☑ Company benefit required☐ Group benefit sufficient
☑ Financial as	sistance	
☑ Capital mair	ntenance	
QUESTION 3:	What are the possible legal co	onsequences of violating such rules in your jurisdiction?
☐ Invalidity of	security	
☑ Civil liability	of	☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☑ Shareholder☑ Lender
☑ Criminal Liability of		☑ Director of company☐ Director of shareholder☐ Shareholder☐ Lender
QUESTION 4:	Is it market practice in your ju the legal consequences?	risdiction to include limitation language and if so, what are in essence
⊠ Yes		Legal consequences: In circumstances where the guarantee or security could contravene financial assistance rules detailed below, limitation language will typically state that the guarantee or security does not apply to any liability to the extent that it would result in the guarantee or security constituting unlawful financial assistance.
□ No		

QUL	311014 3.	besides limitation language (e.g. shareholder approval, adequate fee etc.)?	
⊠ Y	es	□ No	
QUE	STION 6:	Are there any exemptions or whitewash procedures in your jurisdiction?	
□ Y	es	⊠ No	
QUE	STION 7:	Are there any differences depending on the legal entity of the security provider in your jurisdiction?	
× Y	es	□ No	
(1)	STION 8:	Comments/Specifics s of a UK company are under a duty to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members.	
(2)	It is more difficult (but normally possible in the majority of non-distressed transactions) to establish that a company obtains a corporate benefit from providing an upstream or cross-stream guarantee or security. Lenders usually require the giving of the guarantee to be authorized by directors' and shareholders' resolution, to avoid the transaction being challenged by a shareholder on the basis that the directors have breached their duties. However, this will not cure a lack of corporate benefit if the company is in the zone of insolvency when the directors' primary duty is deemed to be owed to the company's creditors.		
(3)	An upstream guarantee may result in an unlawful reduction of capital unless the company has distributable reserves sufficient to cover t amount of the reduction and the statutory requirements for effecting such a reduction are complied with. The effect on net assets show be determined according to normal accounting principles. As a result, lenders may ask to see board minutes that address the issue of reassets. Where the borrower group is in financial distress, lenders may require a net assets letter from the company's auditors.		
(4)	or those	Financial assistance rules prohibit a UK public company from giving financial assistance for the purpose of the acquisition of its share or those of a parent company, and a UK private company from giving financial assistance for the purpose of the acquisition of shares of public parent company.	
(5)	Liability	of a lender will only apply in exceptional cases.	



Munich

P+P Pöllath + Partners Hofstatt 1 80331 Munich Germany Berlin

P+P Pöllath + Partners Potsdamer Platz 5 10785 Berlin Germany Frankfurt/Main

P+P Pöllath + Partners An der Welle 3 60322 Frankfurt/Main Germany

www.pplaw.com